### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC08-2116

v.

EDDIE RILEY,

Respondent.

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

BILL MCCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA MEGGS PATE TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 0045489

MICHAEL T. KENNETT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 177008

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSELS FOR PETITIONER

##

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner, the prosecution, or the State. Respondent, Eddie Riley, the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent or his proper name.

The record on appeal consists of one volume, which will be referenced according to the respective number designated in the Index to the Record on Appeal, followed by any appropriate page number in parentheses.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State of Florida charged the Respondent by amended information with one count of sexual battery by digital penetration committed upon a person (S.H.) less than 12 years of age (Count I), one count of lewd and lascivious molestation committed upon S.H. (Count II), and three counts of sexual battery committed upon J.D., a child over 12 years of age but less than 18 years of age by a person in familial or custodial authority (Counts III-V). This appeal pertains to Count I, which alleged capital sexual battery. See *Riley* 

- viii -

v. State, 2008 Fla. App. LEXIS 16428 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA Oct. 22, 2008) ("[Respondent] was charged in Count I of an amended information with capital sexual battery committed between November 1, 2002, and May 1, 2003, in violation of section 794.011(2)(a), Florida Statutes.").

During the trial, the Respondent's defense counsel requested, as to Count I, that the jury receive an instruction on simple battery as a lesser included offense of the charged crime of capital sexual battery. See *Riley v. State*, supra ("The matter proceeded to trial, and as to Count I, defense counsel requested that the jury be instructed on simple battery as a lesser included offense."). The trial court denied the Respondent's request, reasoning that the crime of capital sexual battery, unlike the crime of simple assault, does not require the State to prove lack of consent; therefore, simply battery fails to qualify as a necessarily lesser included offense of capital sexual battery. See *Riley v. State*, supra:

> The trial court denied that request, opining that simple battery was not a lesser included offense because it requires a touching against the will of the victim, whereas sexual battery committed on a victim under 12 does not require a lack of consent, nor was lack of consent alleged in the amended information.

At the conclusion of a trial, a jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged on all counts. The trial court then sentenced the Respondent to life in prison on Count I. See *Riley v. State*, supra ("As a consequence, the jury was instructed only on the charged

- 2 -

offense and attempted capital sexual battery, and returned a verdict finding petitioner guilty as charged on Count I.").

On direct appeal, the Respondent's appellate counsel filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), representing that he was unable to make a good faith argument that reversible error occurred in the trial court. See Riley v. State, supra ("Riley's counsel on direct appeal filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).").

The Respondent then filed a *pro se* brief raising seven claims of error, none of which alleged that the trial court committed reversible error when it denied the Respondent's request for a jury instruction on the offense of simple battery. See *Riley v. State*, supra, n.1, citing *Jackson v. State*, 946 So. 2d 83 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2006); *Barber v. State*, 918 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 2006) ("The fact that Riley could have raised the jury instruction issue in a pro se brief does not foreclose him from now seeking relief on a claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel.").

The First District Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment and sentence, per curiam, without a written decision. See *Riley v. State*, 926 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2006) (hereinafter, "*Riley I*").

The Respondent filed a timely petition for writ of *habeas corpus* in the First District Court of Appeal, alleging the ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. The District Court granted the Respondent's petition as to Count I, reversed the Respondent's

- 3 -

conviction and sentence for Count I, and remanded the case for a new trial. See *Riley v. State*, 2008 Fla. App. LEXIS 16428 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA Oct. 22, 2008) (hereinafter, "*Riley II*"). ("Accordingly, the petition alleging ineffective assistance of appellate counsel is GRANTED, petitioner's conviction and sentence for Count I are REVERSED, and the matter is REMANDED for a new trial as to that count.").

Perceiving that this Court "has demonstrated a trend to limit the concept of per se reversible error," the First District Court of Appeal certified the following question as one of great public importance:

> BASED ON THE REASONING OF *GALINDEZ V. STATE*, 955 SO. 2D 517 (FLA. 2007), MAY A COURT FIND THAT THE FAILURE TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE NEXT LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE CONSTITUTES HARMLESS ERROR?

*Riley II*. In a concurring opinion, Judge Wolf slightly modified the question certified by the majority by adding a clause at the end:

BASED ON THE REASONING OF *GALINDEZ V. STATE*, 955 SO. 2D 517 (FLA. 2007), MAY A COURT FIND THAT THE FAILURE TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE NEXT LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE CONSTITUTES HARMLESS ERROR WHERE NO REASONABLE JURY COULD HAVE RETURNED A VERDICT FOR THE LESSER OFFENSE? (Emphasis added)

Riley II.

On 3 November 2008, the State filed with this Court a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction. On 19 December 2008, this Court accepted jurisdiction in the case *sub judice*.

- 4 -

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE.

State v. Abreau, 363 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 1978) represents a "legal coelacanth", bypassed with the evolution of the harmless error doctrine, yet somehow surviving in the dark waters of the deep - its existence nothing more than a living preservation of the fossil record. Therefore, this Court should overrule *Abreau* to the extent necessary to allow the State, as the purported beneficiary of an instructional error, to prove "beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict or, alternatively stated, that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction." *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1138 (Fla. 1986), citing *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967).

In addition to falling out of step with the development of the harmless error doctrine, *Abreau's* faulty reasoning presents another basis for overturning the decision. Following *Abreau's* rationale, when the trial court fails to instruct on "B", the trial court unfairly precludes the jury from rendering a partial acquittal based upon mercy and therefore forces the jury to render a verdict based upon its oath and the instructions on the law. In other words, *Abreau* finds that *per se* reversible error occurs when a trial court shapes the judicial landscape in such a way as to cajole the jury into following the law. Importantly, however, *Abreau* relies upon an illogical premise: a

- 5 -

jury will initially and irrationally decline to convict on "A", will determine that "C" remains too low to honor its desire to exercise mercy, and ultimately will conclude that "A" more closely resembles what the jury irrationally considers the true crime committed. Thus, *Abreau* expresses a concern that a jury might irrationally arrive at the most rational of conclusions (guilt as to "A").

Additionally, State v. Bruns, 429 So. 2d 307 (Fla. 1983) applies faulty reasoning that provides a basis for overturning its holding that "An attempt instruction does not provide a 'step' within the meaning of Abreau." Bruns at 309. To demonstrate this point, Bruns rationally concludes that attempt offenses remain separate and distinct from lesser included offenses; hence, a jury can exercise its pardon power properly only when it receives an instruction on the appropriate lesser included offense. *Ibid* ("The application of the Abreau "step" analysis should only be made in cases where both the instruction that was given and the omitted instruction relate to a lesser-included offense. "). This reasoning, however, begs a very simple question: If a jury necessarily must disregard its instructions when it exercises its pardon power, why does it matter that those instructions "technically" list attempts as separate from true lesser included offenses? In truth, it does not matter; an attempted offense adequately affords an irrational jury the opportunity to render a verdict based on mercy, not reason.

- 6 -

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE

## IN A PROSECUTION FOR CAPITAL SEXUAL BATTERY, DID THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE NEXT LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF SIMPLE BATTERY CONSTITUTE HARMLESS ERROR?

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The *de novo* standard of appellate review applies to the issue presented, as the State raises a legal challenge in a case involving undisputed facts. See *Williams v. State*, 957 So. 2d 595, 598 (Fla. 2007), citing *State v. Florida*, 894 So. 2d 941, 945 (Fla. 2005) ("Because these matters involve solely legal determinations based on undisputed facts, our review of the Second District's decision is de novo.").

#### MERITS

In 1978, this Court issued an opinion declaring that the failure to instruct the jury on the next immediate lesser-included offense (one step removed) constitutes *per se* reversible error. See *State v. Abreau*, 363 So. 2d 1063, 1064 (Fla. 1978) ("Only the failure to instruct on the next immediate lesser-included offense (one step removed) constitutes error that is per se reversible."); see also *Reddick v. State*, 394 So. 2d 417, 418 (Fla. 1981) ("The failure to instruct on the next immediate lesser included offense (one step removed) constitutes error that is per se reversible."). An important caveat, courts gauge the next immediate lesser-included offense from the crime of conviction, not the crime charged. *Rigdon* v. State, 621 So. 2d 475, 478 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1993):

Because the failure to instruct on a necessarily lesser included offense one step removed (simple assault) from the crime for which a defendant was convicted (aggravated assault with a firearm) constitutes reversible error per se, we reverse appellant's conviction and remand for a new trial.

See also *Stephens v. State*, 396 So. 2d 741, 742 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1981) ("The refusal to give an instruction on a lesser included offense one step removed from the crime for which a defendant is convicted is reversible error."). As a result, the existence of *per se* reversible error may not become apparent until after the jury renders its verdict. See *Gallo v. State*, 1981 Fla. App. LEXIS 21023 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA, Sept. 3, 1981):

> What the dissent overlooks is that the very heart of the Terry-Lomax-Abreau analysis is that the failure to instruct on the lesser offense is error. That error is transformed into per se reversible error of harmless error, depending on the jury verdict thereafter rendered. Thus, if the trial court chooses to speculate that its error in refusing to give a requested instruction will become harmless because the jury will convict of a higher offense two steps removed, it is it which runs the risk of its prediction. When its prediction turns out to be wrong, as in the present case, it is the trial court's lack of foresight, not, as the dissent suggests, our hindsight, that causes reversal.

By announcing a *per se* rule in *Abreau*, this Court declined to adopt the harmless error approach articulated a decade earlier by the United States Supreme Court. See *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 22 (1967): We conclude that there may be some constitutional errors which in the setting of a particular case are so unimportant and insignificant that they may, consistent with the Federal Constitution, be deemed harmless, not requiring the automatic reversal of the conviction.

Abreau's per se rule remains grounded in a concern that juries should enjoy the opportunity to exercise their "pardon power." See State v. Holmes, 929 So. 2d 719, 721 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2006), quoting Abreau, supra:

> The rationale for the rule requiring reversal when a trial court fails to instruct on a lesser offense one step removed from the conviction is that the jury must be "given a fair opportunity to exercise its inherent 'pardon' power by returning a verdict of guilty as to the next lower crime."

See also *State v. Bruns*, 429 So. 2d 307, 310 (Fla. 1983) ("The basis of this Court's holding in *Abreau* was the desire to preserve the jury's "pardon" power."). Using an "A" (charged offense), "B" (one step removed), and "C" (two steps removed) example, this Court reasoned that a resort to harmless error analysis remains unnecessary as the reviewing court cannot determine whether the jury, if properly instructed, would have exercised that pardon power. *Ibid*:

> If, however, the jury only receives instructions on "A" and "C" and returns a conviction on "A", the error cannot be harmless because it is *impossible to determine* whether the jury, if given the opportunity, would have "pardoned" the defendant to the extent of convicting him on "B" (although it may have been unwilling to make the two-step leap downward to "C"). (Emphasis added)

> > - 9 -

In support of the *per se* rule, subsequent courts echoed Abreau's concern that the unpredictable nature of jury pardons render the application of the harmless error test extremely difficult. See e.g. *Hill v. State*, 788 So. 2d 315, 319 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2001), overruled on other grounds by *Sanders v. State*, 847 So. 2d 504, 508 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2003):

It is entirely reasonable that the [Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967)] test is not satisfied where a trial court has improperly failed to honor a defense request for an instruction on a lesser included offense. Because we know that jury pardons are occasionally awarded by aberrant juries, *it* would be difficult for an appellate court to conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that a jury in a particular case, given the opportunity, would not disobey the law and grant a pardon. (Emphasis added)

The direct appeal context greatly contrasts with the post-conviction arena; in the latter, the speculative nature of jury pardons works against the appellant and in favor of the State. See *Sanders v*. *State*, 946 So. 2d 953, 959-960 (Fla. 2006), quoting *Sanders v*. *State*, 847 So. 2d 504, 507 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2003):

> However, any finding of prejudice resulting from defense counsel's failure to request an instruction on lesser-included offenses necessarily would be based on a faulty premise: that a reasonable probability exists that, if given the choice, a jury would violate its oath, disregard the law, and ignore the trial court's As did the district court in instructions. Sanders, we, too, "have difficulty accepting the proposition that there is even a substantial possibility that a jury which has found every element of an offense proved beyond a reasonable doubt, would have, given the opportunity, ignored its own findings of fact and the trial court's instruction on the law and found a defendant guilty of only a lesser included offense."

> > - 10 -

Admittedly, when the State claims harmless error, it bears the burden on direct appeal to prove "beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict or, alternatively stated, that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction." *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1138 (Fla. 1986). In contrast, however, an appellant alleging ineffective assistance of counsel bears the burden to show: (1) "that counsel's performance was deficient"; and, (2) "that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (U.S. 1984). This burden distinction may explain why appellate courts view jury pardons differently in the direct appeal and post-conviction contexts. But see *Gragg v. State*, 429 So. 2d 1204, 1207 (Fla. 1983):

> Collateral estoppel does not depend on whether there is any evidence to support the view that the jury may have exercised its pardon power. Practically every jury verdict of acquittal is susceptible to such an interpretation. Α jury's verdict may possibly be based upon a defendant's demeanor or other matters not reflected by the record. For this reason courts should not speculate on whether the jury has reached its verdict through compassion or compromise. In determining whether collateral estoppel applies, a court should limit its inquiry to whether there was a factual basis, rather than an emotional basis, upon which the jury's verdict could have rested.

Nonetheless, reviewing courts remain unable to conduct a comprehensive review of the record on direct appeal because the Abreau decision constrains appellate courts from determining whether the

failure to instruct on a necessarily lesser included offense one step removed from the crime of conviction qualifies as harmless error. See Sanders v. State, 847 So. 2d 504, 510 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2003) (Ervin, J., concurring and dissenting), approved by Sanders v. State, 946 So. 2d 953 (Fla. 2006):

> Thus, much of the discussion in [Hill v. State, 788 So. 2d 315 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2001)] regarding the *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18 (1967), harmless error test, applicable to direct appeals but not to collateral proceedings, is immaterial in a case such as that now before us in which the offense is necessarily included, because if claimant's counsel had timely requested an instruction on robbery with a weapon and the trial court had refused it, the refusal would have been reversible on appeal without any consideration of whether the error was harmless.

Unfortunately, *Abreau's* inflexible approach can lead to ridiculous results. See *Riley v. State*, 2008 Fla. App. LEXIS 16428 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA Oct. 22, 2008) (Wolf, J., concurring):

No reasonable jury would have issued a jury pardon in this case and returned a verdict of simple battery.

This case demonstrates the very folly in having an inflexible per se reversible error rule and not allowing courts to consider the circumstances of a particular case to determine whether harmful error occurred.

See also Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 18 (1999), quoting R.

Traynor, The Riddle of Harmless Error 50 (1970):

[The erroneous admission of evidence in violation of the Fifth Amendment's guarantee against self-incrimination and the erroneous exclusion of evidence in violation of the right to confront witnesses guaranteed by the Sixth

Amendment], no less than the failure to instruct on an element in violation of the right to a jury trial, infringe upon the jury's factfinding role and affect the jury's deliberative process in ways that are, strictly speaking, not readily calculable. We think, therefore, that the harmless-error inquiry must be essentially the same: Is it clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error? To set a barrier so high that it could never be surmounted would justify the very criticism that spawned the harmless-error doctrine in the first place: "Reversal for error, regardless of its effect on the judgment, encourages litigants to abuse the judicial process and bestirs the public to ridicule it." (Emphasis added)

Finally, *Abreau's* inflexible approach fails to promote the fair administration of justice. See generally *State v. Marshall*, 476 So. 2d 150, 153 (Fla. 1985):

> [T]he harmless error rule is a preferred method of promoting the administration of justice. It makes no sense to order a new trial, because of a nonfundamental error committed at trial, when we know beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant will be convicted again. Our trial courts are already excessively burdened. An additional and unnecessary trial in such an instance might affect the rights of others to a fair and expeditious trial.

### Development of the Law

Developments in the law over the last thirty years call into question the continued viability of the reasoning underlying this Court's decision to adopt, in lieu of any harmless error analysis, a *per se* rule of reversal with regard to the type of instructional error present in *Abreu*. To begin with, this Court repeatedly has expressed a reluctance to adopt an inflexible, *per se* reversal approach to various types of judicial errors. See *Riley v. State*, 2008 Fla. App. LEXIS 16428 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA Oct. 22, 2008) ("We recognize, however, as set out in Judge Wolf's concurring opinion, that the supreme court has demonstrated a trend to limit the concept of per se reversible error."). Similarly, the United States Supreme Court expressed a preference for harmless error analysis over inflexible, *per se* approaches. See e.g. *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 306 (1991):

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