IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

EDDIE RILEY,

Respondent.

CASE NO.: SC08-2116

LOWER CASE NO.: 1D08-0802

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

On Discretionary Review from the First District Court of Appeal: Certified Question of Public Importance

Attorney for Respondent, EDDIE LEE RILEY

Joshua B. Spector, Esq. Florida Bar No. 0584142 Perlman, Yevoli & Albright, P.L. Museum Tower, Suite 600 200 South Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Telephone: 954 566 7117

Telephone: 954.566.7117 Facsimile: 954.566.7115

Email: jspector@pyalaw.com

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The only question before this Court is the question certified as one of great public interest by the majority of the First District Court of Appeal in its decision below. That question asks whether this Court's reasoning in *Galindez v. State*, 955 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 2007) overrules *State v. Abreau*, 363 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 1978), such that the appropriate standard of review of a trial court's refusal to instruct a jury on the next lesser-included offense should cease being *per se* error and instead assume a harmless error analysis. This Court should answer the certified question in the negative.

The factual premises and legal reasoning of *Galindez* are remote to the limited circumstances of *Abreau* and this case. For this Court to bridge the gap between *Galindez* and *Abreau* in the context of reviewing this certified question, this Court would have to expand the ruling of *Galindez* – not merely apply it. Such an expansion of *Galindez* through and in this case is not warranted and the decision would be misapplied. Indeed, Petitioner makes only the slightest argument based on *Galindez*, seemingly conceding that the reasoning does not overrule *Abreau*. Rather, Petitioner's arguments prompt this Court to overrule *Abreau* based on purportedly analogous cases – none of which regard the narrow circumstances of *Abreau*.

Even if this Court disagrees and finds that *Galindez* does present applicable reasoning, Petitioner fails to meet its burden in demonstrating to this Court that the three-prong test for receding from precedent is met. Each of the three questions comprising that test militates in favor of preserving the 30-plus years of *Abreau*'s precedent. The doctrine of *stare decisis* is not readily compromised by this Court. Here, the conditions for breaking with a precedent as rooted and long-standing as *Abreau* are absent.

Additionally, this Court exercises considerable restraint when reviewing a certified question. The scope of the Court's review is generally limited to the express question, to the exclusion of other issues submitted by aggressive petitioners or matters that are not germane to the express question.

Moreover, given the strength of *Abreau* as precedent, and the Petitioner's failure to demonstrate the requisite bases for receding from that precedent, this Court should reconsider its review of this case and discharge jurisdiction over this matter.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Generally, where this Court reviews a pure issue of law presented through a certified question from a district court, the standard of review is *de novo. Insko v. State*, 969 So. 2d 992, 997 (Fla. 2007). But that standard does not apply in this narrow instance. The Court's standard of review applicable to this particular certified question is the Court's own test for receding from precedent, or what will be referred to herein as the *stare decisis* standard.

In this case, the certified question posed by the First District Court of Appeal does not regard an unsettled point of law or a legal ruling by a lower court, but rather questions whether this Court has constructively overruled its decision in *State v. Abreau*, 363 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 1978). More

In the majority's opinion, the First District Court of Appeal acknowledged:

A large portion of our analysis is predicated upon the supreme court's holding in *State v. Abreau*, 363 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 1978), that the court's failure to instruct on an offense one step removed from the charged offense constitutes *per se* reversible error. In light of recent supreme court precedent, however, it is unclear whether the reasoning behind this precedent is still valid. We, therefore, also certify a question of great public importance concerning the continuing validity of the holding in *Abreau*.

specifically, the First District Court of Appeal questions whether this Court's decision in *Galindez v. State*, 955 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 2007), overruled *Abreau* such that this Court has substituted a different standard of review to be applied in instances where a court refuses to instruct a jury on the next lesser included offense. *Riley*, 2008 Fla. App. LEXIS 16428, *8.

For this Court to answer the certified question in the affirmative, it must expressly overrule *Abreau*, as well as the line of cases that precede, found, and inform the decision and the thirty-plus years' worth of decisions that have relied upon that opinion.

As the certified question calls this Court's binding precedent into question, this Court must regard the doctrine of *stare decisis* and consider this Court's own proscriptions against and conditions for breaking with long-standing precedent. *See State v. Whitby*, 975 So. 2d 1124, 1125 (Fla. 2008) (Pariente, J., concurring) (concurring with decision to deny review and discharge jurisdiction over case as there was no basis to recede from the Court's precedent).

This Court has stated time and again that it is committed to the doctrine of *stare decisis*. *Strand v. Escambia County*, 992 So. 2d 150, 159-160 (Fla. 2008) (citing *N. Fla. Women's Health & Counseling Servs., Inc. v.*

Riley v. State, 33 Fla. L. Weekly D 2481, 2008 Fla. App. LEXIS 16428, *1-2 (Fla. 1st DCA Oct. 22, 2008).

State, 866 So. 2d 612, 637 (Fla. 2003)). The "doctrine of stare decisis, or the obligation of a court to abide by its own precedent, is grounded on the need for stability in the law and has been a fundamental tenet of Anglo-American jurisprudence for centuries." *Id.* The doctrine was memorialized by this Court a century and a half ago in *Tyson v. Mattair*, 8 Fla. 107 (Fla. 1858). Strand, 992 So. 2d at 159. See also Valdes v. State, 34 Fla. L. Weekly S 116, 2009 Fla. LEXIS 148 (Fla. Jan. 30, 2009) (directing that "stare decisis counsels us to follow our precedents unless there has been a significant change in circumstances after the adoption of the legal rule, or ... an error in legal analysis.") (internal quotations omitted) (citing Rotemi Realty, Inc. v. Act Realty Co., 911 So. 2d 1181, 1188 (Fla. 2005) (quoting Dorsey v. State, 868 So. 2d 1192, 1199 (Fla. 2003))).

In order to recede from precedent, this Court must satisfy itself that an inclusive, three-prong test has been satisfied. *Strand*, 992 So. 2d at 159. In so doing, this Court "set[s] forth the questions to be considered when asked to recede from precedent, expressly stating that the presumption in favor of precedent is strong." *Id*. The questions to be asked are as follows:

- (1) Has the prior decision proved unworkable due to reliance on an impractical legal "fiction"?
- (2) Can the rule of law announced in the decision be reversed without serious injustice to those who

have relied on it and without serious disruption in the stability of the law?

And:

(3) Have the factual premises underlying the decision changed so drastically as to leave the decision's central holding utterly without legal justification?

Id. (citing N. Fla. Women's Health, 866 So. 2d at 637).

The burden falls upon the petitioner seeking a break with precedent to present evidence that the prior decision has proved unworkable due to reliance on an impractical legal "fiction." *See Strand*, 992 So. 2d at 159 (declining to recede from precedent and finding that the Court had "not been presented with evidence showing that the [prior] decision has proven unworkable due to reliance on a legal fiction").

Without satisfying itself that these questions have been answered in the affirmative, this Court cannot overrule or recede from *Abreau*. *See id*.

Consequently, any consideration of whether *Abreau* has been constructively overruled or not requires this Court to engage in *stare decisis* review. Only after determining whether this Court has constructively overruled *Abreau* can the Court then answer the certified question. For these reasons, the proper standard of review for the Court with regard to this

narrow scenario and for this particular certified question is this Court's *stare decisis* standard.

ISSUE PRESENTED

The sole issue on appeal is the question certified by the First District Court of Appeal:

BASED ON THE REASONING OF *GALINDEZ V. STATE*, 955 SO. 2D 517 (FLA. 2007), MAY A COURT FIND THAT THE FAILURE TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE NEXT LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE CONSTITUTES HARMLESS ERROR?

Riley, 2008 Fla. App. LEXIS 16428, *8. For the reasons and authority set forth below, this Court should either answer the question in the negative or decline to answer the certified question and discharge jurisdiction.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REASONING OF GALINDEZ V. STATE DOES NOT EXTEND TO THIS CASE OR ABREAU, AND THEREFORE THE DECISION DOES NOT DISTURB THE STANDARD OF REVIEW ESTABLISHED BY PRECEDENT OF THIS COURT.

This Court should answer the certified question in the negative because *Galindez* does not disturb the standard of review established by precedent of this Court, including in the *Abreau* decision. First, *Galindez* does not expressly or indirectly regard the standard of review for the limited

scenario shared by this case and *Abreau*. Further, a careful review of *Galindez* demonstrates that the case is both factually and rationally remote from the narrow circumstances shared by this case and *Abreau*. To answer the certified question in the affirmative would require this Court to boldly extend the ruling of *Galindez* in its reasoning and beyond the rationale for its facts. Second, because *Abreau* is controlling law, to answer the certified question in the affirmative, this Court must find that *Galindez* meets the *stare decisis* standard that would permit this Court to break with its precedent in *Abreau*.

A. The reasoning and facts of *Galindez* are so remote from the narrow circumstances of both this case and *Abreau* that the decision would be misapplied here.

Both the ruling and reasoning of *Galindez* would be misapplied here. That appeal reached this Court on a claim of error relating sentencing. 955 So. 2d at 523. More specifically, *Galindez* stands for the proposition that where a defendant admits to having sexual intercourse over a period of months with a victim and defends on the basis of consent, the appellate court can apply the harmless error standard to find that no rational jury could find that the defendant did not sexually penetrate that victim – who, incidentally, was pregnant by the defendant at the time of trial and gave testimony affirming the defendant's admissions. 955 So. 2d at 524.

Essentially, the defendant complained that the jury did not make a specific finding of the element of sexual penetration in relation to the conviction on the counts for lewd and lascivious assault on a minor and child abuse by impregnation. *Id.* at 519-20. As such, he complained, the sentencing scoresheet improperly factored in penetration – presumed by the trial court – and extended his sentence and violated his rights, including this Sixth Amendment rights. *Id.* This Court determined the pertinent issue was "whether the record demonstrates beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found penetration." *Id.* at 523. In contradistinction to this case, Galindez's confession – that he had repeatedly engaged in sexual intercourse with the victim over several months – was admitted at trial. *Id.*

The facts of *Galindez* are, by large measure, unique and profoundly distinguishable from this case. This Court's ruling in *Galindez* depended on these incredible facts, and this Court should exercise caution in extending the ruling to cases such as this one, where the facts give rise to sharp points of distinction. Here, Respondent gave a statement to law enforcement, but that statement was not admitted at trial. (R. 59). Further, Respondent denied the State's characterization of the acts alleged at trial. (R. 67). Finally, Respondent did not present or suggest a defense of consent.

Moreover, the law of *Galindez* is simply not applicable to *Abreau* or the instant case. *Galindez*, and the line of cases cited by Petitioner applying rule of *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18 (1967), or otherwise applying harmless error analysis never regard the situation at bar: a trial court's refusal to instruct the jury on the next lesser-included offense.

First, *Galindez* breaks no new ground in Florida law with regard to the application of the harmless error standard, on which point it simply applies a ruling of this Court from 2005: "Although we have not previously addressed whether [*Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466 (2000)] error may be harmless, we have previously held that it is not fundamental error, and that the error must be preserved for appellate review in order to obtain relief." 955 So.2d at 521 (citing *Hughes v. State*, 901 So. 2d 837, 844 (Fla. 2005)). Thereafter, this Court engages in further analysis of a then-recent United States Supreme Court decision, which likewise regards sentencing and has no clear application to this case. *See id*.

Secondly, the ruling of *Galindez* limits the application of harmless error review to the failure to instruct the jury regarding an element of a crime. Nowhere does *Galindez* regard or suggest any bearing on a trial court's failure or refusal to instruct the jury on the next lesser-included offense. Further and relatedly, *Galindez* does not overrule *Abreau* let alone

recognize friction with that opinion or its long-standing precedent. How could it, given the incredible differences in fact and law between these two cases?

Tellingly, the entirety of the State's initial brief concedes that this Court has not overruled *Abreau* in or by its reasoning in *Galindez* or in any other fashion – the State merely argues that this Court should do so. Indeed, the State only mentions Galindez twice in the Initial Brief. The first reference cites the decision for the application of harmless error analysis to sentencing error. Initial Brief at 17. The second reference regards application of harmless error analysis of *Chapman*, 386 U.S. 18, in *Galindez* to "claims of failure to instruct on an undisputed element." Initial Brief at 19 (quoting Galindez, 955 So. 2d at 522). Nonetheless, the State is presenting this Court with numerous arguments of analogy through which this Court is meant to overrule not one, and not two of its precedents, but more than 50 years' worth of precedent since Killen v. State, 92 So. 2d 825 (1957), on this narrow issue. Analogy is not sufficient to meet the standard of stare decisis review. The State must show this Court that all three prongs of the stare decisis test are met. See Strand, 992 So. 2d at 159. As discussed in the next section, the State fails to meet this burden.

To extend the reasoning of *Galindez* to this case or *Abreau* would require a bold expansion – rather than application – of that ruling. For the reasons stated above, including because *Galindez* does not regard the standard of review for failure to instruct on next lesser-included offenses, such an expansion of *Galindez* is not warranted or proper. This Court should answer the certified question in the negative.

B. Galindez does not expressly or constructively overrule Abreau.

The key authority in this matter is the standard of review set forth by this Court more than thirty years ago in *Abreau*. *Abreau* reaffirmed this Court's *per se* standard of review for those limited instances where a trial court refuses to instruct the jury on a next lesser-included offense despite the request for same or objection to its omission by defendant. 363 So. 2d at 1064. Because *Abreau* is the standing authority on this standard of review, any abrogation from this ruling would entail receding from or overruling *Abreau*.

Here, the First District Court of Appeal's decision hinges on the application of *Abreau. Riley*, 2008 Fla. App. LEXIS 16428, *8. Because Respondent had requested a jury instruction for the next lesser included offense, and the trial court had refused to include that instruction, the court below properly held that the trial court had committed fundamental error and

Respondent was entitled to a new trial on the pertinent count. *Id.* at *3-4. Thereafter, the court below certified the question of whether *Galindez* constructively overrules *Abreau*. *See id*.

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